THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Judge

Case Number 2016-CP-10-0507
Appellate Case No. 2018-001729

RECEIVED
JUN 03 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Buck Investments, LLC,Respondent,

-v-

ROA, LLC, Deborah Rice-Marko, and
PNC Bank, N.A., successor to RBC Bank (USA)..... Defendants.

Of whom ROA, LLC, is the.....Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED
JUN 03 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Demetri K. Koutrakos, SC Bar No. 11318
Louis H. Lang, SC Bar No. 3127
CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC
1812 Lincoln St., Ste. 200
PO Box 1390
Columbia SC 29202-1390
Telephone: 803-404-6900

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the Circuit Court err in granting Buck a directed verdict on ROA's impossibility defense when the refusal of PNC Bank to release the King Street property from the encumbrance of its mortgage made it impossible for ROA to close its contract to sell that property to Buck?

II.

Did the Circuit Court err in denying ROA's JNOV motion regarding its waiver and estoppel defenses when the recorded PNC mortgage encumbering the King Street property expressly provided PNC had unfettered discretion to consent or withhold consent to the sale of the property, the sales contract provided ROA had an obligation to remove only those mortgages encumbering the property which could be removed by paying an "ascertainable sum of money" for such removal, and the King Street sales contract obligated Buck to inspect title before closing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Buck Investments, LLC (Buck), filed its Second Amended Complaint on October 1, 2014.¹ (Second Amended Complaint, ROA 9). Buck's breach of contract cause of action was the only cause of action that went to the jury and is the only subject of this appeal.

Appellant, ROA, LLC (ROA), filed its Second Amended Answer to Buck's Second Amended Complaint on May 2, 2018 (Second Amended Answer, ROA 39). ROA's Second Amended Answer asserted the affirmative defenses of impossibility of performance, impossibility of performance/frustration of purpose and waiver and estoppel (Fifth, Seventh, and Eighth Defenses, respectively, Second Amended Complaint, pp. 4 and 5, ROA 42-43).

The Circuit Court granted Buck's directed verdict motion and dismissed ROA's impossibility/frustration of purpose defense. (Transcript p. 314, l. 22 – p. 315, l. 8, ROA 239-240).

ROA moved for and was denied a directed verdict on its waiver and estoppel defenses. (Transcript p. 295, l. 15 – p. 296, l. 8, ROA 225-224 and p. 298, ll. 12 – 23, ROA 228). ROA renewed its directed verdict motion regarding its waiver and estoppel defenses at the close of the evidence and testimony, that motion being denied again. (Transcript, p. 325, ll. 18 – 25, ROA 250).

After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict against ROA on Buck's breach of contract cause of action for \$900,000.00. (Form 4, Jury Verdict, ROA 4-6).

Thereafter, ROA timely moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict under Rule 50(b), SCRCF (JNOV) or alternatively, under Rule 59(e), SCRCF, regarding its impossibility and estoppel and waiver defenses (JNOV Motion and Amended JNOV Motion ROA 48 and 55).

¹ Buck's Second Amended Complaint is the pleading upon which the issues in the case were tried to a jury.

ROA's JNOV motion was denied by order entered August 16, 2018. (Form 4 order denying ROA's post-trial motions, ROA 7), and this appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This lawsuit involves commercial property at 438 King Street, Charleston, South Carolina.

On March 20, 2013, ROA agreed to sell the King Street property to Buck under a written contract. (Buck Ex. 1, ROA 288). The contract provided a purchase price of \$3,500,000.00, and a ten-day inspection period during which Buck had to conduct a title examination of the property from which a title insurance commitment, opinion, or report was to issue. The contract required Buck to provide ROA, within ten days of receipt of the title commitment, etc., notice of any exception to title not acceptable to it, providing ROA a "reasonable period, not to exceed 15 days," to elect to remove the unacceptable exception. The sales contract also required ROA, at closing, to remove "those exceptions which can be removed by paying an ascertainable sum of money such as mortgages..." *Id.* The contract closing date was set for April 3, 2013, but provided if ROA failed to close the contract on that date, ROA had an additional 30 days (until May 3, 2013) in which to close the transaction. *Id.*

When the contract was signed, the King Street property was encumbered by a mortgage held by PNC Bank. (Portion of ROA Ex. 7, PNC Foreclosure Complaint, ROA 425-428). The mortgage was dated November of 2007, and was amended in 2009 so as to provide cross-collateralization with several other properties owned by Defendant, Deborah Rice-Marko, or other entities. The mortgage was again modified in July of 2011 with the execution of a Forbearance Agreement. The Forbearance Agreement and the modified mortgage were recorded in the public land records of Charleston County. *Id.*

Section 9 of the mortgage prohibited ROA from selling the King Street property without PNC Bank's consent "which may be withheld in [PNC's] sole discretion...." (Order granting PNC Bank summary judgment, and Portion of ROA Exhibit 7, ROA 1 and 503, respectively).

When it entered into the contract, Buck did not know specifically that the King Street property was encumbered by a mortgage, but it expected its attorneys to "figure that out at some point....," and such an encumbrance would not come as a surprise to Buck. (Transcript, p. 142, l. 16 – p. 143, l. 3, ROA 84-85).

Regarding the modified mortgage and forbearance agreement, ROA received a default notice from PNC Bank dated November 26, 2012, (Buck Ex. 3, ROA 306, and Transcript p. 215, ll. 6 – 12, ROA 151), and a second default letter dated February 15, 2013, (Buck Ex. 6, ROA 312, and Transcript p. 215, ll. 17 – 20, ROA 151).

At the time the contract to sell the King Street property was signed, ROA was in negotiations with PNC Bank to resolve their dispute regarding the mortgage and the other cross-collateralized properties. (Transcript p. 251, l. 18 – p. 252, l. 23, ROA 187-188). These negotiations continued after the contract was signed, following the sales contract closing date, through May 3, 2013, at which point PNC Bank filed a lis pendens and foreclosure complaint. (Transcript, p. 253, l. 17 – p. 255, l. 20, ROA 189-191, and Portion of ROA Ex. 7, ROA 425-428).

The foreclosure complaint was 70 pages long, containing 202 paragraphs, describing numerous properties, including the King Street property, and naming as defendants/borrowers/mortgagors. Among the entities named was The Brothers of SC, LLC, which is a limited liability company owned by the sons of Deborah Rice-Marko, but whose loans were unrelated, but cross-collateralized to the PNC note and mortgage, regarding the King Street

property. (Portion of ROA Ex. 7, and Affidavit of Rice-Marko, Buck Ex. No. 20, ¶ 5, 14, 16 ROA 425-426 and 329, 331, 332, respectively).

PNC's foreclosure complaint requested the debts regarding all the notes secured by all the mortgages, including the note secured by the mortgage on the King Street property, be "ascertained and determined under the direction of the Court..." that the Court render a judgment of foreclosure regarding all the mortgages, including the PNC mortgage encumbering the King Street property, and all the property described, including the King Street property, be sold under the direction of the Court. (Portion of ROA Ex. 7, prayer for relief paragraphs 2, 5 and 6, ROA 494 and 495, respectively).

The contract never closed and this litigation ensued.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Regarding Issue I, the Circuit Court's erroneous grant of a directed verdict against ROA on its impossibility defense, the Court's jurisdiction extends to correcting errors of law. *Townes Asso., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). When considering a directed verdict motion, the Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *S.C. Fed. Credit Union v. Higgins*, 394 S.C. 189, 193 – 194, 714 S.E. 2d 550, 552 (2011) (citations omitted).

Regarding Issue II, the Circuit Court's denial of ROA's JNOV Motion regarding its defenses of waiver and estoppel, the Court's review extends to determining if there is any evidence to support the jury's verdict. *Id.* and *Shupe v. Settle*, 315 S.C. 510, 515, 445 S.E. 2d 651, 654 (Ct. App. 1994).

ARGUMENT

I.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Buck a directed verdict on ROA's impossibility defense because, as a matter of law, the refusal of PNC Bank to release the King Street property from the encumbrance of its mortgage made it impossible for ROA to close its contract to sell that property to Buck.

A party to a contract must perform its obligations under the contract unless its performance is rendered impossible by an act of God, the law, or by a third party. "Impossibility must be real and not a mere inconvenience...." *V.E. Amick & Assocs., LLC v. Palmetto Environ. Group, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 538, 716 S.E.2d 295 (Ct. App. 2011).

In granting Buck's directed verdict motion regarding ROA's impossibility defense, the Circuit Court cited *Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 493 S.E.2d 875 (Ct. App. 1997) and *Morin v. Innegrity, LLC*, 424 S.C. 559, 819 S.E.2d 131 (Ct. App. 2018). (Transcript, p. 314, l. 22 – p. 315, l. 8).

In *Hawkins*, Greenwood Development Corporation contracted with Hawkins to build a road in a certain area, the exact location of the road being less than precisely shown in the contract documents. Greenwood Development Corporation applied to the Corps of Engineers for a permit to build the road as Hawkins wished, but the Corps rejected the permit application because there was no development plan for the property upon which the proposed road was to be located. Greenwood Development Corporation then built a road not located where Hawkins desired and litigation ensued.

The Court of Appeals allowed the defense of impossibility to be submitted to the jury, the jury rejected that defense, and awarded Hawkins \$1,500,000.00 in damages. Following the verdict, Greenwood Development Corporation moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, arguing any obligation it had to build the proposed road where Hawkins wished was rendered

impossible by the Corps' denial of a permit to do so. The Circuit Court rejected that argument and was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals, citing trial testimony to the effect that "it would be difficult, but not impossible, to obtain the required permits...." concluded the Circuit Court correctly denied Greenwood Development Corporation's JNOV motion. *Id.* at 592, 493 S.E. 2d at 879.

Here, there is no evidence the contract was merely "difficult, but not impossible...." to close. There is no dispute the contract anticipated the existence of mortgages encumbering the property and the removal of those mortgages by ROA, if that could be done by payment of an ascertainable sum of money. There was no ascertainable sum of money by which ROA could remove the PNC mortgage. In addition, the mortgage gave PNC unfettered discretion to accept or reject the sale of the King Street property, and its May 3, 2016 foreclosure complaint filing was a clear rejection of any such sale. Thus, the only evidence adduced at trial was that the sales contract was impossible to close. The Circuit Court, therefore, erred in granting Buck a directed verdict on ROA's impossibility defenses, and its denial of ROA's JNOV motion must be reversed.

In *Morin*, the other case relied on by the Circuit Court in granting a directed verdict against ROA's impossibility defense, an employer (Innegrity) agreed that if an employee (Morin) was terminated without cause, Innegrity would remove Morin as a guarantor on Innegrity's loans. Morin was terminated without cause. Innegrity requested the lender remove Moran as a guarantor on the loans, but the lender refused.

Morin sued and Innegrity argued that performing its contractual obligation was rendered impossible due to its financial inability to meet its outstanding obligations and the lender's refusal to consent to the removal of Morin as a guarantor.

The Court of Appeals, applying the JNOV review standard, i.e., viewing the trial evidence and inferences therefore, in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, concluded Innegrity had not proven impossibility.

Citing *Hawkins*, the Court of Appeals said Innegrity failed to establish the defense of impossibility because its failure to obtain Morin's release from the loan guaranty was not a "... thing [which] ... cannot by any means be accomplished..." but was "only improbable or out of the power of the obligor...." to accomplish. *Id.* at 592, 493 S.E.2d at 879.

Morin is distinguishable from the facts in this appeal. The *Morin* Circuit Court let the impossibility defense go the jury and the jury rejected the defense, finding for Morin. Here, the Circuit Court granted Buck a directed verdict on ROA's impossibility defense. The standard of review in *Morin*, therefore, differs from the standard of review here.

In addition, the contract between Morin and Innegrity contained an unconditional promise by Innegrity to remove Morin as a guarantor if he was terminated without cause. The King Street property sales contract, however, contemplated the existence of mortgages encumbering the property and provided ROA would "remove at closing those [mortgages] *which can be removed by paying an ascertainable sum of money.*" (Buck Ex. 1, ¶ 4, ROA 290, emphasis added). PNC's May 3, 2016 foreclosure complaint filing asks the foreclosure court to determine the amount owed under all the mortgages it held, *in toto*. There was no "ascertainable sum of money" by which ROA could pay to remove the PNC mortgage as an encumbrance on the King Street property.

Finally, the mortgage itself gave PNC absolute discretion to accept or reject the sale of the property and no power, not even the Court, could force the release of the mortgage. "[Buck] cannot compel PNC to consent to the [sales contract] due to PNC's Mortgage." (Order granting

PNC Bank Summary Judgment, ROA 1). With the filing the foreclosure complaint, ROA could not remove the title exception mortgage because PNC had asserted its right to reclaim the property and force a foreclosure sale.

As the *Morin* court said, early impossibility cases “were uniform that once a party contracted to perform an act, their failure to perform the act promised breached the contract, *unless it expressly excused performance or allocated the risk of nonperformance elsewhere.*” *Id.* at 568, 819 S.E. 2d at 136. The King Street sales contract contemplated title exceptions, premising their removal on an “ascertainable sum of money.” The mortgage could not be removed by an “ascertainable sum of money” and, therefore, rendered ROA’s performance impossible.

There are no South Carolina cases directly on point. The case of *Serio v. Copeland Holdings, LLC*, 2017 Ark. App. 280, 521 S.W.3d 131 (2017) is instructive. The *Serio* property was encumbered by a mortgage and an IRS tax lien. Its owners went into default under the mortgage, and the mortgagee began foreclosure proceedings. Thereafter, the owners entered into a sales agreement, agreeing to sell a portion of the property to a third party. The owners could not obtain a release of the portion of the property they sought to sell from either the mortgagee or the IRS. Ultimately, the property was sold at a foreclosure sale. The contract purchaser then sued the owners for breach of contract, and the owners pleaded impossibility as a defense. The lower court rejected the impossibility defense, and was reversed by the Arkansas Court of Appeals.

An Arkansas impossibility pleader “... must show that he took virtually every action within his power to perform his duty under the contract. It must be shown that the thing to be done cannot be effected by any means....” *Id.*, 521 S.W.3d at 138, quoting *Frigillana v.*

Frigillana, 266 Ark 296, 302, 584 S.W.2d 30, 33 (1979). “Impossibility of performance ... is sufficient to excuse the nonperformance on the part of either party means an impossibility consisting in the nature of the thing to be done, and not the inability of the party to do it, and it must be shown that the thing required under the contract cannot be accomplished. *Id.*, citing *Whipple v. Driver*, 140 Ark. 393, 215 S.W. 669 (1919). *See also Thornton v. Interstate Securities Co.*, 35 Wash. App. 19, 666 P.2d 370 (1983) (“Impossibility of performance encompasses both strict impossibility and impracticality due to extreme and unreasonable difficulty, expense, injury or loss; the unexpected, yet foreseeable event which renders performance impossible must be fortuitous and unavoidable on part of promisor.”).

Similarly, in *Olbum v. Old Home Manor Inc.*, 313 Pa.Super. 99, 459 A.2d 757 (1983), a mining company agreed to pay landowners \$3,000 per month for four years for the right to mine coal on their property. When the coal ran out in 14 months, the mining company stopped paying and the landowners sued. The trial court entered judgment for the mining company; the landowners appealed, contending that the mining company’s contractual obligation to pay royalties did not terminate when the merchantable coal under their property became exhausted. The Superior Court of Pennsylvania agreed with the trial court, saying that if the existence of a specific thing was necessary for performing a duty, its failure to come into existence, destruction, or such deterioration as made performance impracticable was an event the nonoccurrence of which was a basic assumption on which the contract was made. *Id.* at 108, 459 A.2d at 762, quoting *Restatement of Contracts, 2d*, § 263, Destruction, Deterioration or Failure to Come Into Existence of Thing Necessary for Performance.

The Pennsylvania appellate court found both parties understood the contract was based upon two specific veins of coal under the landowners’ property. Thus, the court concluded that

the mining company's obligation to pay royalties terminated when the coal was exhausted. Judgment affirmed.")

Buck and ROA understood and contemplated the existence of mortgages encumbering the King Street property. The sales contract provided for the removal of such mortgages where there existed an ascertainable sum of money. No such ascertainable sum of money existed, to say nothing regarding the absolute discretion PNC had to reject the sales contract and the filing of the May 3, 2016 foreclosure action.

ROA did everything it could to obtain the release of the King Street property from the PNC mortgage encumbrance. It failed because of the impossibility of that task. ROA was, therefore, as a matter of law, excused from performance.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Buck a directed verdict on ROA's impossibility defense and denying its JNOV motion. Its decision must be reversed and judgment entered for ROA.

II.

The Circuit Court erred in denying ROA's JNOV motion regarding its waiver and estoppel defenses because the recorded PNC mortgage encumbering the King Street property expressly provided PNC had unfettered discretion to consent or withhold consent to the sale of the property, the sales contract provided ROA had an obligation to remove only those mortgages encumbering the property which could be removed by paying an "ascertainable sum of money" for such removal, and the King Street sales contract obligated Buck to inspect title before closing.

South Carolina recognizes the affirmative defenses of waiver and estoppel. "Waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right," *Eason v. Eason*, 384 S.C. 473, 480, 682 S.E.2d 804, 807 (2009) (citing *Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994)); *see also King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 30, 694 S.E.2d 35, 42 (Ct. App.

2010); *Sanford v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 385 S.C. 483, 496-97, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (2009), and may be expressed or implied by a party's conduct. *Parker*, 313 S.C. at 487, 443 S.E.2d at 391. Acts inconsistent with a continued assertion of a right may constitute a waiver. *Bonnette v. State*, 277 S.C. 17, 18, 282 S.E.2d 597, 598 (1981).

Similarly, “[e]quitable estoppel occurs where a party is denied the right to plead or prove an otherwise important fact because of something which he has done or failed to do.” *Eason* at 480, 682 S.E.2d at 807 (citing *Parker* at 487, 443 S.E.2d at 391). “The distinction between waiver and estoppel is close, and sometimes the doctrines merge into each other with almost imperceptible gradations.” *Id.* at 487, 443 S.E.2d at 391. “Estoppel is an equitable doctrine, essentially flexible, and therefore to be applied or denied as equities between the parties may preponderate.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 379 S.C. 314, 324, 665 S.E.2d 194, 199 (Ct. App. 2008) (rev'd in part on separate grounds).