THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2016-CP-10-0507
Appellate Case No. 2018-001729

Buck Investments, LC.....Respondent

v.

ROA, LLC, Deborah Rice-Marko and
PNC Bank, N.A., successor to RBC Bank (USA).....Defendants

Of Whom ROA, LLC is the.....Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

WALL TEMPLETON & HALDRUP, P.A.

Morgan S. Templeton, Esquire

Thomas B. Boger, Esquire

Post Office Box 1200

Charleston, South Carolina 29402

Tel: 843-329-9500

Morgan.Templeton@WallTempleton.com

Tommy.Boger@WallTempleton.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED A VERDICT AGAINST ROA, LLC’S IMPOSSIBILITY DEFENSE?

The burden of proving impossibility rested with ROA. Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 328 S.C. 585, 593, 493 S.E.2d 875, 879 (S.C. Ct. App. 1997)(citations omitted). ROA provided no testimony regarding its alleged inability to pay an “ascertainable sum of money” to satisfy the banks mortgage. Indeed, as noted by the trial judge, ROA provided “absolutely no testimony . . . of that.” [R. p. 237]. No representative of PNC testified. [R. pp. 63-65]. Rice

Marko offered no testimony regarding ROA's financial condition, or even her own. [R. pp. 143-197]. Furthermore, ROA did not move for directed verdict against Buck on impossibility, but rather, stated "we believe that issue should go to the jury." [R. pp. 238-239]. ROA cannot ask for relief it did not seek at directed verdict in the context of either a JNOV or appeal. RFT Management, 732 S.E.2d at 170-71.

In turning to the impossibility defense, the trial court was correct to direct a verdict, because ROA's inability furnish money to a third party does not excuse its performance of the contract it entered with Buck. Morin v. Innegrity, LLC, 424 S.C. 559, 819 S.E.2d 131 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018). The trial court's reliance on Morin was proper and is on point.

Morin started a business out of his home and founded Innegrity. Id. at 135. It later added investors in exchange for ownership and an employment agreement with Morin. Id. The employment agreement included a promise that Innegrity would remove Morin as a guarantor of the company's loans if he was fired without cause. Id. Innegrity struggled through the recession, and Morin personally guaranteed loans in an effort to raise additional capital. Id. As Innegrity continued to struggle, the board fired Morin without cause, and defaulted on loans that he guaranteed, subjecting Morin to lawsuits. Id. Morin filed a breach of contract claim against Innegrity after being terminated without cause in the face of an employment agreement. Id. In part, Innegrity asserted that it was an impossibility to remove Morin as a guarantor on the loans he personally guaranteed, and sought reversal of its JNOV motion at trial. Id. Innegrity alleged that it "conclusively established its affirmative defense of impossibility of performance at trial by showing the company was insolvent at the time of Morin's termination, and that the lenders in question had rejected their request to remove Morin from his guarantees." Id.

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Innegrity and held that the impossibility defense failed as a matter of law as it applied to the alleged financial inability to perform, and **the acts of third parties**. *Id.* at 136-137 (emphasis added). As it related to the acts of third parties, the court disagreed that performance was rendered impossible, as follows:

“Equally unavailing is Innegrity's claim it was "impossible" to force the lenders to remove Morin's obligations. Innegrity assumed the risk it would be able to relieve Morin of the guarantees, whether by making alternative arrangements with the lender or paying off the loan. Even the most generous interpretation of impossibility will not save a contracting party who bargains for his own folly by guaranteeing performance despite impracticability. This is the lesson of Holmes' rainmaker. *See supra Farnsworth, Farnsworth on Contracts*, § 9.6 at 643. *See also Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 261 (1981), cmt. c.” *Id.*

The Morin case mirrors that of ROA's assertion of impossibility in this action. Here, ROA asserts it is impossible to perform because either they cannot pay the difference in the amount of the contract (to be paid by Buck), or PNC will not release them from the mortgage so as to convey clear title. This ignores three key points.

First, PNC is a third party to the contract and cannot form the basis for impossibility per Morin. Second, ROA's alleged inability to secure other financing to fill any shortfall between that which Buck was willing to pay and what was demanded by PNC cannot be the basis the defense per Morin. Third, even if ROA had no monetary means to satisfy PNC, it provided no evidence of that at trial as noted during directed verdict. [R. pp. 237-239]. The Morin court makes clear that South Carolina law does not recognize the defense of impossibility for an alleged financial inability to perform, or the alleged inability to force a third party to perform.

The holding of Morin is based upon sound South Carolina law and legal principals. Generally, if a party by his contract charges himself with an obligation possible to be performed,

he must make it good unless its performance is rendered impossible by an act of God, the law, or other party. Jones v. Bates, 241 S.C. 189, 127 S.E.2d 618 (S.C. 1962); 17 Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 404 (1964). Subjective impossibility, possibility which is personal to the promisor and does not inhere in the nature of the act to be performed, does not excuse nonperformance of a contractual obligation. B's Co. v. B.P. Barber & Assoc., Inc., 391 F.2d 130 (4th Cir.1968)(applying South Carolina law). “Accordingly, the fact that one is unable to perform a contract because of his inability to obtain money, whether due to his poverty, a financial panic, or failure of a third party on whom he relies for furnishing the money, will not ordinarily excuse nonperformance in the absence of a contract provision in that regard.” Moon v. Jordan, 301 S.C. 161, 164, 390 S.E.2d 488; 490 (S.C. Ct. App. 1990). Any alleged inability to financially perform by ROA does not create a legal impossibility so as to excuse ROA’s legal liability.

Furthermore, ROA’s argument that there was no “ascertainable sum of money” that PNC would accept to release the Property to Buck is factually inaccurate. ROA brief at 8-9. Factually, it was presented at trial that ROA reached an agreement with PNC to release the Property for \$4 million. [R. pp. 176-179, p. 399, p. 418]. Prior to trial a letter of intent to purchase was submitted to ROA for \$5.125 to sell the property, which is obviously more than was necessary to release the Property. [R. pp. 176-179, p. 399, p. 418]. Thus, the very premise for which they base their argument is flawed – factually. [R. pp. 176-179, p. 399, p. 418].

ROA relies on an intermediate court of appeals case from Arkansas, Serio v. Copeland Holdings, LLC, 2017 Ark. App. 280, 521 S.W.3d 131 (Ark. Ct. App. 2017), for its position that impossibility applies in the context of a third-party lienholder. First, this opinion is not binding on this Court. Second, it is in direct contravention to the holding in Morin. Third, it was decided

before Morin. Fourth, even considering Serio, Arkansas requires that the person claiming impossibility “must show that he took virtually every action within his power to perform his duty under the contract. It must be shown that the thing to be done cannot be effected by any means.” Id. at 138. There was no testimony by ROA as to what was performed, attempted to be performed, or any effort by ROA to perform prior to closing, other than “negotiations” with PNC which were never disclosed to Buck or even the context of those negotiations at trial. [R. p. 93, p. 127, pp. 141-142, pp. 143-197].

Lastly, and for the first time on appeal, ROA cites to Olbum v. Old Home Manor, Inc., 313 Pa.Super. 99, 459 A.2d 757 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1983), as supportive of their defense of impossibility. As with Serio, *supra*, Olbum is not binding on this court, nor is it particularly persuasive. Putting aside the fact that Olbum was never cited below, its central purpose is to release a continuing contractual obligation to pay funds following exhaustion of coal supplies. Here, it has no application because there is no evidence that ROA was unable to provide money to PNC to satisfy any encumbrance. There was simply no evidence to support the notion of impossibility and the arguments presented are insufficient under Morin. It is no mystery that the property was encumbered which Buck acknowledged at trial. [R. pp. 84-85]. ROA, however, never disclosed any reason why it was unable to close on April 3, 2013, nor did it provide any testimony regarding any inability to satisfy PNC. [R. p. 154]. The closing date was to occur on April 3, 2013, but the foreclosure action was not commenced until May 2013, thus, the existence of the foreclosure action cannot be a legal excuse, because it did not exist at the time the closing was to occur. Any argument that Buck should have been aware of an undisclosed impediment to closing is unsupported in the Record, unsupported by the facts, and unsupported by the timeline of events leading up to the admitted breach of contract. [R. p. 78, p. 85, p. 93, pp. 145-154, p.

302, p. 306, p. 328, p. 420]. Furthermore, the argument ignore the fact that Buck was read, willing, and able to perform on the deal all the way up to and including trial and sought specific performance. [R. pp. 198-228]. Factually, it was presented at trial that ROA reached an agreement with PNC to release the Property for \$4 million. [R. pp. 176-179, p. 399, p. 418]. Prior to trial a letter of intent to purchase was submitted to ROA for \$5.125 to sell the property, which is obviously more than was necessary to release the Property. [R. pp. 176-179, p. 399, p. 418]. Thus, the impossibility defense was inapplicable and Olbum does not support otherwise.

The Court should affirm the granting of a directed verdict in favor of Buck on the defense of impossibility. Further, as ROA never asked for a directed verdict on the defense of impossibility in its favor, it cannot do so now as it was not preserved. RFT Management, 732 S.E.2d at 170-71.

II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ROA, LLC'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT REGARDING THE DEFENSES OF WAIVER AND ESTOPPEL FOLLOWING A JURY VERDICT WHICH REJECTED THESE DEFENSES?

“Waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right. It may be expressed or implied by a party's conduct, and it may be applied to bar a party from relying on a statute of limitations defense.” Parker v. Parker, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994) (citation omitted). The party asserting waiver has the burden of proof. SPUR at Williams Brice Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Lalla, 415 S.C. 72, 91, 781 S.E.2d 115, 125 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). “Generally, the party claiming waiver must show that the party against whom waiver is asserted possessed, at the time, actual or constructive knowledge of his rights or of all the material facts upon which they depended.” Id. In order for a party to waive a right, the party must have known of the right and known that the right was being abandoned. King v. James,

388 S.C. 16, 30, 694 S.E.2d 35, 42 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010). The determination of whether one's actions constitute waiver is a question of fact. Id.

The “[e]ssential elements of estoppel as related to the party claiming the estoppel are: (1) lack of knowledge and of means of knowledge of truth as to facts in question; (2) reliance upon conduct of the party estopped; and (3) prejudicial change in position.” Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 553 S.E.2d 110, 114 (2001). The “[e]lements of equitable estoppel as to the party estopped are: (1) conduct by the party estopped which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts; (2) the intention that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the true facts.” Id.

In this action, ROA asserts that the doctrines of waiver and estoppel precluded Buck from arguing that the ROA breached any obligation to Buck under the contract. ROA takes the position that Buck had an obligation under the contract to inspect the title to the property, which would have evidenced a mortgage recorded by PNC Bank, and thus provided Buck the opportunity to demand ROA prove to Buck that PNC Bank was going to consent to the transfer of the property. Buck admits it did this. [R. pp. 84-85]. However, such an inspection would not reveal whether any loan on the property was in default. [R. pp. 84-85, p. 146, p. 152].

Essentially, ROA wants Buck (and the judiciary) to ignore the duty of good faith and fair dealing implicit in every contract which was owed to Buck. Crenshaw v. Erskine College, 424 S.C. 287, 818 S.E.2d 218 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018). ROA implicitly wants to shift any personal responsibility it had in disclosing pertinent facts surrounding the status of the property which could have only been known to ROA at the time of contract. There has not been any evidence presented that Buck waived its rights under the contract. There was no evidence of an

intentional relinquishment of a known right. ROA conceded at trial that Buck was at all times been ready, willing, and able to perform the contract. Mrs. Rice-Marko testified at trial that she had knowledge of the threat of foreclosure at all relevant times and failed to notify Buck of the same. [R. pp. 145-153, pp. 302-312, p. 328]. ROA was the only one with knowledge about the true condition of the mortgages and the threat of foreclosure and did not disclose that information to Buck, despite that obligation being clearly set forth in the contract. Furthermore, Buck sought specific performance on this contract all the way up to and including during trial. [R. pp. 198-228]. As such, it cannot be said that Buck waived its rights by failing to inquire about a fact that was withheld from Buck.

As set forth above, the doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply in this instance. The law first requires that the party claiming estoppel lack the knowledge or means of knowledge of truth as to facts in question. Here, ROA knew the real facts. [R. pp. 150-154, p. 302, p. 306, p. 312, p. 328]. ROA does not contend that it lacked knowledge in this case which lead them to rely on something Buck knew and withheld which resulted in a prejudicial change in ROA's position. To the contrary, it was Buck that relied on ROA, and had Buck known of the threat of foreclosure it would not have continued with the contract/deal. [R. p. 91, p. 110]. Likewise, ROA did not allege that Buck made any false representation or concealment of facts with the intention that ROA act upon it. Again, the crux of this case is that ROA – not Buck – failed to disclose the true facts to Buck. [R. pp. 145-153]. The doctrines of waiver and estoppel are inapplicable to this matter, and the trial court was correct in refusing equitable estoppel [R. pp. 252-253], allowing the waiver issue to proceed to the jury [R. pp. 260-272].